S\_S273368

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TRICOAST BUILDERS, INC.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

NATHANIEL FONNEGRA,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Two Appellate Court Case No. B303300

Appeal From Los Angeles Superior Court Hon. Melvin D. Sandvig Superior Court No. PC056615

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### CONNETTE LAW OFFICE

Michael T. Connette [SBN 180609] 201 Santa Monica Boulevard Suite 300 Santa Monica, California 91401-2224 (424) 777-8800 mike@connettelaw.com

#### BENEDON & SERLIN, LLP

\*Judith E. Posner [SBN 169559]
Kian Tamaddoni [SBN 312624]
22708 Mariano Street

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

This petition presents two important questions of constitutional law on which direct conflicts exist in the decisional authority regarding a party's right to a jury trial:

- (1) When a party on appeal from a final judgment after a bench trial challenges the denial of relief from the waiver of the right to a jury trial under Code of Civil Procedure, section 631, subdivision (g)<sup>1</sup>, must that party demonstrate actual prejudice to obtain a reversal? In other words, is an abuse of discretion by the trial court sufficient grounds for reversal, as determined by the Second Appellate District, Division Seven, in *Mackovska v. Viewcrest Road Properties LLC* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 1 (*Mackovska*), or, to the contrary, is an additional showing of actual prejudice required, as the majority of the appellate panel decided in the instant matter? Although two lines of authority on this question have existed for four decades, the conflict is now more pronounced given the contrasting opinions in *Mackovska* and the majority in this case.
- (2) In determining whether to grant a party relief from the waiver of the right to a jury trial under section 631, subdivision (g), must the trial court find prejudice to either the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Statutory references are to the California Code of Civil Procedure.

opposing party or the court in order to deny relief from the waiver? In other words, does the trial court abuse its discretion by denying relief from the waiver absent a finding of prejudice, as determined in *Mackovska*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th 1, or, to the contrary, is prejudice just a mere factor informing the trial court's discretion, as the majority decided in the instant matter?

#### WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Article I, section 16 of the California Constitution makes the right to a jury trial "an inviolate right" that "shall be secured to all." (Cal. Const. art. I, § 16.) "The jury as a fact-finding body occupies so firm and important a place in our system of jurisprudence that any interference with its function in this respect must be examined with the utmost care." (Monster, LLC v. Superior Court (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 1214, 1225 (Monster, LLC).) This Court's review of the instant matter is critical because the majority opinion represents a significant departure from existing authorities on this vital constitutional right. (TriCoast Builders, Inc. v. Fonnegra (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 239 (TriCoast).)<sup>2</sup>

The *TriCoast* majority opinion substantially erodes the constitutional guarantees of this state. It does so in two ways:

A copy of the slip opinion in this case is attached to this petition. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.504(e)(1)(A).)

First, the majority held a party challenging the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver on appeal from a final judgment must show actual prejudice in order to obtain a reversal. Second, the majority held a trial court can deny relief from a jury trial waiver absent a finding of prejudice to the opposing party or the court from the granting of such relief. Through these holdings, the majority has created conflicts in the case law, which, absent this Court's intervention, will leave litigants and lower courts without uniform standards to evaluate a request for relief and to review the denial of such a request. This Court's review is necessary to prevent uncertainty in the law and the resulting infringement on jury trial rights.

Initially, by imposing on appellants the impractical, if not impossible, burden of demonstrating actual prejudice caused by the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver, the *TriCoast* majority rendered appellate review from final judgment virtually untenable. Although the majority recognized proving actual prejudice would be difficult, if not impossible, for an appellant, it disregarded such concerns, establishing an unworkable rule that will jeopardize jury trial rights. An actual-prejudice requirement places the right to a jury trial in civil cases effectively beyond the reach of meaningful appellate review.

The *TriCoast* majority opinion also entrenched a dual-track system of appellate review for orders denying relief from a jury

trial waiver. By demanding a showing of actual prejudice in a judgment appeal, the majority created a stricter standard of review for appeals than for petitions for extraordinary writ relief, thereby pressing civil litigants into bringing prophylactic writ petitions to avert a dooming standard of review on appeal. The opinion will needlessly generate more writ petitions by making appeals destined for failure. But writ relief is itself discretionary and rarely granted, even under meritorious circumstances. Relying on writ relief, therefore, further erodes appellate review of orders denying relief from a jury trial waiver. This Court's review is necessary and urgent to preserve the well-established right to challenge an order denying relief from a jury trial waiver on appeal from a final judgment.

To understand the conflict of authorities and analytical difficulty in this area of law, the Court need consider only Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th 1, from Division Seven of the Second Appellate District and the dissent of Justice Ashman-Gerst in the instant matter. On the one hand, Mackovska held a judgment is reversible upon a showing that relief from a jury trial waiver was denied improperly, and a party who objects to a bench trial and seeks review of the order denying relief – whether by writ petition or appeal from the judgment – is not required to show actual prejudice. On the other hand, the TriCoast majority held a party who fails to seek writ review of an order denying

relief from jury waiver must demonstrate actual prejudice when challenging such an order on appeal. Although *Mackovska* temporarily resolved and clarified the confusion that had been brewing in case law for four decades, *TriCoast* upends that resolution.

As the appellate court in *Mackovska* and the dissent in *TriCoast* both recognized, however, it is "difficult, if not impossible, ... to show prejudice from the denial of the constitutional right to a jury trial." (*Mackovska*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 16; slip opn. p. 4, dis. opn. of Ashman-Gerst, J.) For this reason, Justice Ashman-Gerst urged adherence to the rule of law pronounced in *Mackovska* that foregoes any actual prejudice requirement. (Slip opn. p. 4, dis. opn. of Ashman-Gerst, J.)

TriCoast also created a conflict of authority on another dimension in this area of law: the prejudice to the other party that the trial court must find before denying relief from waiver, and who bears the burden of demonstrating such prejudice. On the one hand, Mackovska, following a long line of appellate court decisions, held that "[d]enying relief where the party opposing the motion for relief has not shown prejudice is an abuse of discretion." (40 Cal.App.5th at p. 10.) On the other hand, the TriCoast majority "disagree[d] with courts that have suggested the opposing party bears the burden of demonstrating prejudice

from the granting of relief from waiver." (Slip opn. pp. 13-14.) And, while *Mackovska* recognized that "the crucial question is whether the party opposing relief will suffer any prejudice" (40 Cal.App.5th at p. 10), the *TriCoast* majority held that "[p]rejudice to the parties is just one of several factors the court may consider in exercising that discretion." (Slip opn. p. 14.) In addition to eschewing prejudice to the opposing party, the majority also affirmed the denial of relief absent any showing of prejudice to the trial court, which has in certain instances fulfilled the requirement of prejudice to support the denial of relief.

TriCoast, therefore, has thrown the law regarding relief from a jury trial waiver into disarray. It directly conflicts with Mackovska, reigniting the long-standing conflict on the standard of review in a judgment appeal challenging the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. It also directly conflicts with Mackovska and older authorities on the well-established principle that prejudice to the opposing party or the court is crucial to support the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. This Court should grant review to resolve and clarify the law on these important questions. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Such review is necessary and appropriate to prevent the erosion of constitutional jury trial rights.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL STATEMENT

Plaintiff and appellant TriCoast Builders, Inc. (TriCoast), a general building contractor, initiated this lawsuit against defendant and appellant Nathaniel Fonnegra, the owner of property where TriCoast had performed work. (CT 22.) A jury trial was scheduled to start on September 23, 2019, as reflected in the trial court's minutes. (CT 96.) On the morning of trial, when the trial court called the matter for a jury trial, Fonnegra stated that he decided "over the weekend" to waive his right to a jury trial. (*Ibid*; 2 RT 1.) TriCoast objected because its counsel had prepared for a jury trial and Fonnegra's decision to waive a jury trial the morning it was set to start was unfair. (2 RT 2.) TriCoast made an oral request to proceed by jury trial pursuant to section 631, subdivision (g), and offered to post jury fees that day. (*Id.* at 1.)

Fonnegra, however, sought to have the case proceed with a bench trial on the ground that TriCoast had waived its right to a jury trial by failing to post jury fees within the timeframe specified by section 631, subdivision (d). (2 RT 2.) The trial court agreed with Fonnegra, rejected TriCoast's offer to post fees that day as untimely, and ruled the case would proceed as a bench trial. (*Ibid.*) The trial court stated: "When the fees haven't been paid, and you haven't paid them, the party that did pay them has waived the jury trial, so that's it." (*Ibid.*) Although TriCoast

insisted it had a constitutional right to a jury trial, the trial court remarked TriCoast could seek immediate writ review of the ruling. (*Ibid.*) The trial court then denied TriCoast's oral request to proceed by a jury trial, "find[ing] that [TriCoast] not having paid jury fees, has waived trial by jury." (CT 96.) TriCoast did not seek writ review. After a bench trial, Fonnegra prevailed, and judgment was entered in his favor. (CT 112, 134-35, 138-39.)

TriCoast moved for a new trial. (CT 149-53, 154-60.) In support, TriCoast's counsel submitted a declaration, averring that, "[d]uring four years of pretrial proceedings in this case, [Fonnegra] demanded a jury trial. [TriCoast] did not demand a jury trial or post jury fees. Nonetheless, [TriCoast] was required to prepare for a jury trial as a result of Fonnegra's demand. And, [TriCoast] expended considerable resources in doing so and tailored its opening statement, exhibits, witnesses, and presentation for a jury." (CT 161.) In fact, in the two years leading up to trial, "the [trial] court encouraged [Fonnegra] to waive the jury," but he was not "willing to do so." (*Ibid.*) Thus, when the trial court called the matter for a jury trial, TriCoast "placed its four sets of exhibit books, placed the projector for the jury to follow the exhibits, and reviewed voir dire and opening statement written for the jury." (*Ibid.*) Despite this showing, the trial court denied TriCoast's new trial motion. (CT 181-82.)

TriCoast appealed from the judgment. (CT 183.) TriCoast argued the trial court had abused its discretion by denying relief from the jury trial waiver pursuant to section 631, subdivision (g), and resolving the case through a bench trial. (AOB 10-12.) The Second Appellate District, Division Two, affirmed the judgment in a published and divided opinion. The majority held that, because TriCoast had not sought writ review of the trial court's order denying relief, TriCoast was required, but failed, to demonstrate it suffered actual prejudice from the ensuing bench trial. (Slip opn. pp. 3-5.) The majority also determined that, because TriCoast's offer to post jury fees on the day of trial was untimely, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying relief from the jury trial waiver. (Id. at p. 5.) This was so, according to the majority, even though the opposing party suffered no prejudice, because prejudice to the opposing party is merely a factor the trial court can consider in exercising its discretion. (Id. at pp. 5-6.)

Justice Ashman-Gerst, in dissent, "disagree[d] with the majority's conclusion that 'TriCoast's failure to demonstrate prejudice from proceeding with a court trial after its request for relief from jury waiver was denied supports affirmance of the trial court's order." (Slip opn. p. 4, n.3, dis. opn. of Ashman-Gerst, J.) She also stated that, "[e]ven if TriCoast were required to demonstrate prejudice, the appellate record confirms that it did"

because its counsel "expended considerable resources" preparing for a jury trial and "tailored its opening statement, exhibits, witnesses, and presentation for a jury." (*Id.* at p. 5, n.4, dis. opn. of Ashman-Gerst, J.) In addition, according to Justice Ashman-Gerst, Fonnegra did not show it would suffer prejudice from the granting of TriCoast's request for relief from its jury trial waiver. (*Id.* at pp. 5-6, dis. opn. of Ashman-Gerst, J.)

TriCoast did not file a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal.

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. THIS COURT'S REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE WHETHER A PARTY MUST SHOW ACTUAL PREJUDICE TO OBTAIN REVERSAL OF A JUDGMENT BASED ON THE ERRONEOUS DENIAL OF RELIEF FROM A JURY TRIAL WAIVER.
  - A. Improper Denial of Relief From a Jury Trial Waiver Is Reviewable by Both Writ and Appeal.

The California Constitution accords every civil litigant the right to a trial by jury. (Cal. Const. art. I, § 16; *Grafton Partners v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 944, 951 (*Grafton*).) Section 631, subdivision (a), sets forth the Legislature's command that the right toa jury trial shall be "preserved to the parties inviolate." Together, section 631, subdivisions (b) and (f), further provide that waiver of the right to jury trial in civil cases can occur only through one of six enumerated ways, including, as

relevant, a party's failure to timely post jury fees as specified by the statute.

Section 631, subdivision (g), authorizes the trial court to relieve a party from waiver of the jury trial right "in its discretion upon just terms." California's appellate courts have long held that a party can challenge the denial of relief from waiver through either an appeal or extraordinary writ proceeding. (See, e.g., Monster, LLC, supra, 12 Cal.App.5th at p. 1224 ["[A]lthough the denial of a jury trial is 'reviewable on appeal from the judgment,' review by way of extraordinary writ is 'normally ... the better practice' so as to avoid 'time needlessly expended in a court trial"]; Van de Kamp v. Bank of America (1988) 204 Cal.App.3d 819, 862 (Van de Kamp) ["While the better practice is to seek review of such a ruling by writ, saving the time and expense of a court trial if a jury trial improperly was denied, the ruling may be reviewed on appeal from the judgment"]; Selby Constructors v. McCarthy (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 517, 522-523 (Selby) [writ review "would normally appear to be the better practice in the interest of saving the time needlessly expended in a court trial if an erroneous jury-trial denial has occurred. Nevertheless, a denial of a jury trial is also reviewable on appeal from the judgment"].) Thus, a party's decision not to bring an immediate writ petition when a trial court denies relief from waiver does not preclude review in an appeal from the final judgment after a bench trial.

# B. Under *Mackovska*, Actual Prejudice Need Not Be Shown to Prevail on Appeal After the Improper Denial of Relief From a Jury Trial Waiver.

Notwithstanding the consensus that orders denying relief from jury trial waiver can be challenged on appeal from the final judgment, California's appellate courts have disagreed in their explication of the appropriate standard of review of such orders. In particular, for four decades now, existing case law has been uncertain and confused as to the effect of a party's decision not to immediately petition for a writ of mandate when the trial court denies relief under section 631, subdivision (g). In Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th 1, the appellate court tried to resolve the uncertainty and confusion. The majority opinion in *TriCoast*, however, not only has brought back the uncertainty and confusion, but thrown into disarray the applicable standard of review. As such, a direct conflict exists in the law. The time is now for this Court to step in and resolve the conflict so that litigants can make well-informed decisions regarding their constitutional jury trial right and obtain review based on a universal standard, not one dependent upon which panel of the Court of Appeal hears their case.

The conflict in the case law dates back at least to the early 1980's. *Mackovska* acknowledged the broad split of authority concerning the applicable standard of review for a challenge on

appeal from a final judgment to the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. *Mackovska* recognized "[s]ome cases hold that when a party seeks review of such an order on appeal from the judgment without having filed a petition for writ of mandate challenging the order, the party must show actual prejudice from the denial of a jury trial," while "[o]ther cases hold that the party appealing from the judgment need not make such a showing of prejudice." (*Mackovska*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 4 [surveying authorities].)

Mackovska described a line of cases holding that an appellant must show prejudice when challenging on appeal from a final judgment the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. (Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 13.) These cases include Gann v. Williams Brothers Realty, Inc. (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1698 (Gann), McIntosh v. Bowman (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 357 (McIntosh), and Byram v. Superior Court (1977) 74 Cal.App.3d 648 (Byram) (collectively, the Gann, McIntosh, and Byram cases). (Ibid.) Mackovska borrowed from Gann's summary of these authorities:

Some courts have held that a party should not be able to obtain a reversal on [the ground that relief from jury trial waiver was improperly denied] after judgment without a showing of prejudice occurring in the trial. [Citation.] Although it is difficult to envision

precisely how one shows prejudice from denial of a jury trial aside from that inherent in deprivation of a constitutional right, the seldom articulated reason for allowing the trial court's determination to stand is that a party should not be able to play "Heads I win. Tails you lose" by waiting until after judgment to seek review of the denial of relief from jury waiver. [Citation.] Thus courts have held that prejudice will not be presumed from the fact that the trial was to the court rather than to the jury. [Citations.] Rather, it is presumed that the party had the benefit of a fair and impartial trial.

(Mackovska, at pp. 13-14, quoting Gann, at p. 1704.)

The "coin-tossing" metaphor referenced in the *Gann*, *McIntosh*, *and Byram* cases, however, has been misunderstood and misconstrued. Originally, *Byram* explained that appellate courts often will affirm a trial court's denial of relief from a jury trial waiver to prevent litigants from engaging in gamesmanship, i.e., playing "Heads I win, Tails you lose," and objecting to a bench trial only after obtaining an unfavorable result. But *Byram* actually determined that issuing a writ was warranted because that case did not involve gamesmanship "[i]nasmuch as the petitioner sought a jury trial throughout the proceedings and took prompt action" to rectify the waiver. (74 Cal.App.3d at p. 654.) Consequently, no gamesmanship was at issue in *Byram*,

and the appellate court's statement of concern about the possibility of gamesmanship was not relevant to the outcome of the case.

Nevertheless, several years later, McIntosh misconstrued Byram's reference to the coin-tossing metaphor in holding that "reversal... after trial to the court... would require reversal of the judgment and a new trial" and that prejudice should be required "to overcome the presumption that a fair trial was had." (McIntosh, supra, 151 Cal.App.3d at p. 363.) Gann later cited to *McIntosh*'s and *Byram*'s references to the coin-tossing metaphor to determine a writ of mandate is required "to secure a jury trial allegedly wrongfully withheld without the usual demonstration of prejudice or miscarriage of justice required to obtain a reversal after judgment." (231 Cal.App.3d at p. 1704.) Gann, however, did not heed *Byram*'s warning that "it may be difficult ... to establish ... prejudice[] by the denial of a jury trial" after trial has already taken place and that, even when a party "could establish such prejudice as to warrant reversal of the judgment, such a procedure would be inefficient and time consuming." (Byram, supra, 74 Cal.App.3d at p. 654.) The coin-tossing metaphor, therefore, was dicta in Byram and does not support the later decisions in *McIntosh* and *Gann*.

*Mackovska* also recognized a conflicting line of authority holding the opposite of the *Gann*, *McIntosh*, and *Byram* cases,

*i.e.*, the improper denial of jury trial is per se prejudicial, and an appellant from a final judgment need not demonstrate prejudice caused by the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver to obtain reversal. These cases include Boal v. Price Waterhouse & Co. (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 806 (Boal), Simmons v. Prudential Insurance Corporation (1981) 123 Cal.App.3d 833 (Simmons), and Bishop v. Anderson (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 821 (Bishop) (collectively, the *Boal*, *Simmons*, and *Bishop* cases). (*Mackovska*, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 13.) After studying both lines of authority, *Mackovska* rejected the pronouncements in the *Gann*, McIntosh, and Byram cases as non-binding dicta because they either did not involve an appeal from a final judgment (as in Byram, which was an original writ proceeding) or were affirmed because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying relief (as in Gann and McIntosh). (Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 14.)

Mackovska also deemed the Gann, McIntosh, and Byram cases unpersuasive for two reasons. First, Mackovska scrutinized the "questionable statement that courts cannot presume prejudice from denial of the right to a jury trial because we assume a party had the benefit of a fair and impartial court trial." (Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 13.) Mackovska recognized "how difficult, if not impossible, it is to show prejudice from the denial of the constitutional right to a jury trial" and

"requiring an appellant challenging an order denying a motion for relief from a jury trial waiver to show actual prejudice would essentially leave discretionary mandate review as the only practical remedy." (*Id.* at p. 16.) *Mackovska* determined requiring a showing of prejudice would be "hardly adequate protection for a constitutional right that is such "a basic and fundamental part of our system of jurisprudence [it] should be zealously guarded."" (*Ibid.*)

Second, *Mackovska* rejected the presumption that, "if courts do not require a showing of actual prejudice, parties will play "Heads I win, Tails you lose" and wait until after judgment to challenge a trial court's denial of relief from a jury waiver." (Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 15.) Rather, Mackovska held that, when "the party makes a timely request for relief from a jury trial waiver and neither the other party nor the court would suffer prejudice as a result of that request, the concerns [regarding improper gamesmanship] do not exist. The Supreme Court has made clear that such improper gamesmanship arises when a party loses a case after proceeding with a court trial without objecting to the absence of a jury and then complains the case was erroneously tried to the court. (See Taylor v. Union Pac. R.R. Corp. (1976) 16 Cal.3d 893, 900-901)." (Ibid.) Thus, under *Mackovska*, a showing of prejudice is not required on appeal when a party exhibited no sign of improper gamesmanship and

promptly objected to the lack of a jury trial or otherwise sought to rectify a waiver.

Mackovska further relied on this Court's guidance that "any ambiguity or doubt concerning the waiver provisions of section 631 must be 'resolved in favor of according to a litigant a jury trial." (Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th. at p. 10, quoting Grafton, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 958.) Mackovska thus held that "concluding that the erroneous denial of the right to a jury trial … is reversible per se comports with both the inviolate nature of the right to a jury trial [citations] and the revocability of jury trial waivers under section 631." (Mackovska, at p. 16.)

Rather than adopt the misconstrued dicta represented by the *Gann, McIntosh*, and *Byram* cases, *Mackovska* "follow[ed] the line of authority created by *Boal, Simmons*, and *Bishop*," holding that an appellant from the final judgment does not need to show prejudice. (*Mackovska*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 17.) In both *Simmons* and *Bishop*, the appellate courts held "denial of a jury trial after waiver where no prejudice is shown to the other party or to the court is prejudicial." (*Simmons, supra*, 123 Cal.App.3d at pp. 838-839; *Bishop, supra*, 101 Cal.App.3d at p. 825.) In *Boal*, the appellate court also reversed an order denying relief from a jury trial waiver, holding that, "[s]ince improper denial of jury trial is per se prejudicial, the judgment must be, and is, reversed." (*Boal, supra*, 165 Cal.App.3d at p. 810.)

As Mackovska also recognized, "requiring an appellant to show actual prejudice would essentially leave discretionary mandate review as the only practical remedy, hardly adequate protection for a constitutional right that is such 'a basic and fundamental part of our system of jurisprudence [it] should be zealously guarded." (40 Cal.App.5th at p. 16.) Even when a request for relief from waiver is meritorious, a court of appeal "would have had the option of denying the writ and waiting to see whether [the petitioner] prevailed at trial." (Id., quoting Villano v. Waterman Convalescent Hospital, Inc. (2010) 181 Cal. App. 4th 1189, 1205.) Writ relief therefore does not sufficiently safeguard the right to a jury trial. Thus, *Mackovska* held the same standard of review applies to both writs and appeals: If a party is denied the right to a jury trial, it has the choice of "challeng[ing] the constitutional violation (however it occurred) by writ of mandate or by appeal. Where the aggrieved party has not attempted to game the system by failing to object to a trial by the court, there is no reason to apply a stricter standard on appeal." (Mackovska, at p. 16.)

C. The Conflicting Majority Opinion in *TriCoast*Muddles the Standard of Review for an Appeal
Challenging the Improper Denial of Relief
From a Jury Trial Waiver.

*Mackovska* endeavored to clarify that appellants and writ petitioners stand on equal ground when challenging the improper denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. Notwithstanding that effort, the recent *TriCoast* majority opinion is antithetical to *Mackovska*. In *TriCoast*, the majority held that a "party who fails to seek writ review of an order denying relief from jury waiver under section 631 must demonstrate actual prejudice when challenging such an order after the trial has been concluded." (Slip opn. p. 3.) By requiring a showing of prejudice from the denial of a jury trial, TriCoast creates an irreconcilable conflict with Mackovska that cries out for this Court's review. And, as explained, TriCoast creates a dual-track system of appellate review, whereby extraordinary writ review, which does not require prejudice, has a more lenient standard of review than an appeal from a final judgment, which, under the TriCoast majority opinion, does require prejudice.

In *TriCoast*, the majority noted that *Mackovska* had "rejected the *Byram*, *McIntosh*, *and Gann* courts' conclusion that prejudice must be shown by an appellant who failed to seek writ review of an order denying relief from jury waiver." (Slip opn. p. 7.) According to the majority, *Mackovska* "emphasized the

'inviolate nature' of the constitutional right to a jury trial [citation], but conflated denial of the right to a jury trial 'in the first instance,' absent any prior waiver, with denial of a motion for relief from a jury trial waiver [citation]." (*Ibid.*) *Mackovska*, however, did not involve such conflating. In fact, *Mackovska* squarely addressed the distinction between denying the right to a jury trial in the first instance and denying a motion for relief from a jury trial waiver and explained such a distinction was inconsequential to the question of prejudice for the standard of review.

Mackovska cited several authorities holding the improper denial of jury trial is per se prejudicial. (Mackovska, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 15; see, e.g., Rincon EV Realty LLC v. CP III Rincon Towers, Inc. (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 1, 18 (Rincon) ["[d]enial of the right to a jury trial is reversible error per se, and no showing of prejudice is required of a party who lost at trial"], quoting Valley Crest Landscape Development, Inc. v. Mission Pools of Escondido, Inc. (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 468, 493 (Valley Crest); see also Van de Kamp, supra, 204 Cal.App.3d at p. 863 ["Denial of the right to trial by jury is an act in excess of the court's jurisdiction and is reversible error per se"].) Rincon, Valley Crest, and Van de Kamp all addressed a trial court's denial of a jury trial in the first instance, not a trial court's denial of relief from waiver of a jury trial. "For these reasons," TriCoast

"disagree[d] with *Mackovska* and agree[d] with the courts in *Byram*, *McIntosh*, and *Gann*," which set forth the law as if it required a showing of prejudice for reversal of a judgment based on the improper denial of review from a jury trial waiver. (Slip opn. p. 9.)

But Mackovska did not rely on Rincon, Valley Crest, and Van de Kamp for their holdings related to the denial of a jury trial right in the first instance. As explained, Mackovska expressly "follow[ed] the line of authority created by *Boal*, Simmons, and Bishop" to conclude an appellant from the final judgment does not need to show prejudice. (Mackovska, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 17.) In both Simmons and Bishop, the appellate courts held "denial of a jury trial after waiver where no prejudice is shown to the other party or to the court is prejudicial." (Simmons, supra, 123 Cal.App.3d at pp. 838-839, italics added; Bishop, supra, 101 Cal.App.3d at p. 825, italics added.) In *Boal*, the appellate court also reversed an order denying relief from a jury trial waiver, holding that, "[s]ince improper denial of jury trial is per se prejudicial, the judgment must be, and is, reversed." (Boal, supra, 165 Cal.App.3d at p. 810.)

*Mackovska*, therefore, did not conflate denial of a jury trial in the first instance with denial of relief from the waiver of a jury trial. Rather, its express reliance on the *Boal*, *Simmons*, and

Bishop cases demonstrates its holding that prejudice is not required to obtain the reversal of a judgment based on the improper denial of relief from a jury trial waiver is directly supported by those authorities. The majority in TriCoast simply was wrong to conclude otherwise.

Furthermore, *Mackovska* expressly addressed the distinction between denial of a jury trial in the first instance and denial of relief from the waiver of a jury trial, deeming it to be inconsequential to whether prejudice must be shown on appeal:

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