IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TRICOAST BUILDERS, INC.

Appellant,

S273368

v.

NATHANIEL FONNEGRA,

Respondent

After a Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Two Appellate Court Case No. B303300

Appeal from the Los Angeles County Superior Court Hon. Melvin D. Sandvig Superior Court No. PC056615

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric Bensamochan, Esq. State Bar No. 255482 9025 Wilshire Blvd. Ste. 215 Beverly Hills, CA 90211 Phone: 818-574-5740 E-mail: eric@eblawfirm.us Attorney for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Tri-Coast Decision Correctly Found That the Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion

The California Constitution states that "[t]rial by jury is an inviolate right and shall be secured to all," but "[i]n a civil cause a jury may be waived by the consent of the parties expressed as a matter of statute." (Cal. Const., art. I, §16). A party waives the right to a jury trial by failing to make a timely deposit of jury fees under section 631 (f)(5). A court accordingly may refuse a jury trial if the required fee deposit is not made. Such a waiver does not deny a constitutional right. *Still v. Plaza Marina Commercial Corp.* (1971) 21 Cal.App.3d 378, 388.

Section 631(g) provides: "The court may, in its discretion upon just terms, allow a trial by jury although there may have been a waiver of a trial by jury." The Court of Appeal pointed to settled authority that review of a decision to deny relief under 631(g) is subject to the usual abuse of discretion standard. (Slip opinion at pp. 5-6). "As with all actions by a trial court within the exercise of its discretion, as long as there exists a reasonable or even fairly debatable justification, under the law, for the action taken, such action will not be here set aside, even if, as a question of first impression, we might feel inclined to take a different view from that of

the court below as to the propriety of its action." *Gonzales v. Nork* (1978) 20 Cal.ed 500, 507.

The *TriCoast* decision concedes that the record from the trial court is thin. It nevertheless points out that the court proceeded with a bench trial to accommodate witness scheduling. (Slip opinion, p. 4). The dissent argues that this "supposed inference is unsubstantiated." (Slip opinion, dissent p. 6). This difference of opinion, however, does not affect the core of the decision: "We accordingly presume that the trial court's order denying TriCoast's request for relief from jury waiver is correct, indulging all intendments for relief from jury waiver is correct, indulging all intendments and presumptions in favor of the order, and drawing all reasonable inferences from the facts to support the order." (Slip opinion, p. 14, quoting *Denham v. Superior Court*, (1970) 2 Cal.3d 557, 564).

This fact specific fight over the trial Court's abuse of discretion does not warrant Supreme Court review under Rule of Court 8.500.

B. The Dissent's Position That Respondent Must Demonstrate Prejudice is Contrary to the Statute

The *TriCoast* decision cites a string of cases that require prejudice be shown by an appellant who failed to seek writ review of an order denying relief from jury waiver. It quotes *Byram*, supra: "Defendants cannot play 'Heads I win, Tails you lose' with the trial court. Reversal of the trial court's refusal to allow a jury trial after a trial to the court would require reversal of the judgment and a new trial. It is then reasonable to require a showing of actual prejudice on the record to overcome the presumption that a fair trial was had, and prejudice will not be presumed from the fact that trial was to the court or to a jury." (Slip opinion, p. 6 citing *Byram* at 653). There

is a real world practicality in this analysis that minimizes the double investment of judicial resources in a case that is tried twice.

The dissent not only rejects this, but goes much further and would require Respondent to show actual prejudice. (Slip opinion, dissent p. 6). The dissent argues: "I understand the majority's concern about the waste of judicial resources in sending this back for a new trial. But the right to a jury trial is "inviolate" in California, and the failure to conduct one when a party who has that right requests one is reversible error per se." (Ibid p. 7, citing *Valley Crest Landscape Development, Inc. v. Mission Pools of Escondido, Inc.* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 468, 493. Respectfully, there is no doubt that TriCoast waived its right to a jury trial. There is also no doubt that Appellant's motion for relief under section 631(g) must be judged on an abuse of discretion standard. Or at least that is what the statute plainly says.

The *TriCoast* decision points that "prejudice to the parties is just one of several factors the trial court may consider in exercising [its] discretion." (Slip opinion, p. 14 citing *Gann v. Williams Brothers Realty, Inc.* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1698, 1704.) The opinion also does a thorough job distinguishing the cases relied upon by the dissent (and in the Petition), especially *Mackovska v. Viewcrest Road Properties LLC* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 1. (Slip opinion, p. 10). Again, these are factually precise distinctions which belie the suggestion that *TriCoast* and *Mackovska* are so at odds that this Supreme Court must step in to settle disputed law.

The record from the trial court is clear that TriCoast missed the opportunity to post jury fees for four years. Even the dissent concedes that TriCoast waived its right to a jury. Sound public policy and a clear statute gave the trial court discretion is addressing the motion for relief from the

waiver. The suggestion that Respondent must prove an overlay of prejudice before the trial court on exercise its discretion is NOT found anywhere in CCP 631.

V. CONCLUSION

The TriCoast decision supports both the language of the statute and existing case law. There is no need for Supreme Court review